# Coastal carbon opportunities: using drones to measure mangrove above-ground biomass and carbon SUMMARY REPORT

Alice R. Jones, Ramesh Raja Segaran, Michelle Waycott, Bronwyn Gillanders

Goyder Institute for Water Research Technical Report Series No. 19/13



www.goyderinstitute.org



#### Goyder Institute for Water Research Technical Report Series ISSN: 1839-2725

The Goyder Institute for Water Research is a partnership between the South Australian Government through the Department for Environment and Water, CSIRO, Flinders University, the University of Adelaide, the University of South Australia and the International Centre of Excellence in Water Resource Management. The Institute enhances the South Australian Government's capacity to develop and deliver science-based policy solutions in water management. It brings together the best scientists and researchers across Australia to provide expert and independent scientific advice to inform good government water policy and identify future threats and opportunities to water security.



Enquires should be addressed to: Goyder Institute for Water Research Level 4, 33 King William Street Adelaide, SA 5000 tel: 08 8236 5200 e-mail: enquiries@goyderinstitute.org

#### Citation

Jones, A.R., Raja Segaran, R., Waycott, M. and Gillanders, B.M. (2019) *Coastal carbon opportunities: Summary* report on using drones to measure mangrove above-ground biomass. Goyder Institute for Water Research Technical Report Series No. 19/13.

© Crown in right of the State of South Australia, Department for Environment and Water.

#### Disclaimer

The University of Adelaide, as the project partner, advise that the information contained in this publication comprises general statements based on scientific research and does not warrant or represent the completeness of any information or material in this publication. The project partner does not warrant or make any representation regarding the use, or results of the use, of the information contained herein about to its correctness, accuracy, reliability, currency or otherwise and expressly disclaim all liability or responsibility to any person using the information or advice. Information contained in this document is, to the knowledge of the project partner, correct at the time of writing.

## Contents

Acknowledgmentsii			
1	Background1		
	1.1	Why do we need a new method for measuring mangrove biomass?1	
	1.2	How can drones help? 2	
2	What we did 3		
3	What we found		
	3.1 mode	Modelled estimates of above-ground biomass from the drone image-based 3D canopy I	
	3.2 meas	Estimated biomass using established forest inventory techniques that rely on physical urements	
	3.3 techn	Comparison of above-ground biomass estimates from the drone data and the allometric iques	
4	What	this all means9	
References			

## **Figures**

Figure 1. Global averages for carbon storage in four different forest types. Data from Donato et al (2012)
Figure 2. A field scientist working in a dense mangrove stand in SA (left) and the tightly intermingled canopies and multiple stems of the <i>Avicennia marina</i> mangroves in SA (right)
Figure 3. Photo of the drone flying over the marked trees
Figure 4. Three-dimensional structural information and derived imagery generated from multiple, overlapping images collected by a drone-mounted camera and processed in Pix4D Mapper Pro software.
Figure 5. Schematic of the workflow used in our investigation into using drones to estimate the above- ground biomass of mangrove trees
Figure 6. Plots of predicted values for tree structural characteristics from the drone 3D imagery, against the measured values from the felled trees
Figure 7. Boxplots showing the predictions of above-ground biomass (kg) based on tree structural characteristics (height, diameter, canopy area) that were either measured by hand (left side) or estimated from the drone imagery (right side)

## **Acknowledgments**

We would like to thank Lendlease particularly Kate Brickhill and Chris Podger, as well as safety, engineering and construction staff who enabled our access to the Northern Connector work site where the mangroves for this study were removed. We acknowledge the South Australian Museum (especially David Stemmer) who provided access to their Bolivar site for trees to be delivered and measured. We would also like to thank Matthew McMillan and Jackson Stockbridge, who assisted in the processing of tree samples, as well as William Goh and Sidney Heitmann whose student projects supported the results in this summary report. We also extend our appreciation to the members of the Project Advisory Committee set up by the Goyder Institute.

## 1 Background

Coastal vegetated ecosystems such as seagrass beds, mangroves and saltmarshes are extremely efficient at capturing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and are therefore considered a carbon 'sink' and a useful tool in combatting climate change (Figure 1). Compared to many terrestrial forests, coastal vegetation communities can take up carbon dioxide at faster rates and store it for longer periods (Mcleod et al. 2011). Carbon sequestered into coastal ecosystems is called 'blue carbon' and is predominantly stored below ground in the sediment, with a smaller proportion stored in the above-ground vegetation (referred to as biomass) (Nellemann and Corcoran 2009). Of the three main blue carbon ecosystems (seagrass, saltmarsh and mangrove), mangroves have the greatest **above-ground** biomass and carbon storage capacity, due to their larger, woody growth forms (Alongi 2014). However, the above-ground biomass and carbon pool of mangroves is generally poorly quantified, appears to be highly variable within and between species and also dependent on location (Owers et al. 2018) and there are no data on above-ground mangrove biomass and carbon storage for South Australian mangrove forests. We know that the climate and composition of coastal vegetation communities in South Australia differ from those in other states and countries, therefore it is likely that their productivity, biomass and blue carbon storage capacity are also different.



Figure 1. Global averages for carbon storage in four different forest types. Data from Donato et al (2012).

Our project, 'Coastal carbon opportunities' set out to collect and analyse new field data from coastal carbon ecosystems in South Australia (SA), to improve our understanding of the value of the state's coastal environments as carbon sinks. The proof-of-concept case study summarised in this report tested a new methodology for remotely estimating above-ground biomass and carbon stored in mangroves using drones. The outcomes can support development of novel tools for assessing coastal carbon sequestration and emissions abatement opportunities in SA and beyond.

For technical details of the study described in this summary report, please refer to:

Jones AR, Segaran RR, Clarke K, Waycott M, Goh WSH, Gillanders BM (in prep). *Demonstrating the use of drones for estimating mangrove tree biomass and carbon storage*.

### 1.1 Why do we need a new method for measuring mangrove biomass?

Measurement of mangrove biomass is traditionally done using field-based forestry techniques that involve the collection of physical measurements from trees within designated plots. The measurements collected include tree height, canopy/crown area and trunk diameter (often at the base of the tree and also at breast height, which is 130 cm up the trunk). These values are then used in allometric equations, which are used to estimate biomass based on established relationships between tree structure and overall tree biomass. These allometric equations allow tree biomass to be predicted from field based, non-destructive measurements from trees (Picard et al. 2012). The amount of carbon stored in the above-ground biomass of plants can then be calculated, as this is directly proportional to their biomass. This means that biomass values can simply be converted to estimates of carbon storage using multiplier values that assume a specified proportion of the tree's biomass represents organic carbon. The recommended multiplier values used for mangroves are usually between 0.46 and 0.5 (Kauffman and Donato 2012), with the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) recommending a value of 0.45 (IPCC 2014).

Collecting physical measurements from mangroves, can be problematic because it is time and resource demanding, as well as potentially hazardous for field staff (Figure 2). These constraints can lead to poor survey coverage and measurement errors due to limited access to dense mangrove stands. In areas where it is not safe, practical or affordable to collect physical measurements from mangroves, default carbon values (rather than site-based values) may be used to estimate mangrove above-ground carbon stocks (IPCC 2014). However, this introduces a large amount of uncertainty to the biomass and derived carbon estimates, which is penalised in carbon market schemes by lower payments (Gibbs et al. 2007, Howard et al. 2014, Kauffman and Donato 2012).



Figure 2. A field scientist working in a dense mangrove stand in SA (left) and the tightly intermingled canopies and multiple stems of the *Avicennia marina* mangroves in SA (right). Both illustrate the access difficulties in these environments and how this may prevent systematic surveys and the collection of accurate measurements from trees with which to estimate biomass.

## 1.2 How can drones help?

There is clearly a need for an easy-to-deploy, comparatively cheap method for collecting high-spatial resolution data on mangrove structural characteristics at a local scale, which could support site-level assessment and monitoring of mangrove biomass for carbon accounting and crediting purposes. The use of drones for ecological research and management has grown significantly in the last decade (Anderson and Gaston 2013), including applications for collection of structural measurements from plants, predominantly driven by forestry (e.g. Panagoitidis et al. 2017) and agriculture (Bendig et al. 2015). Drones have the potential to provide a relatively low-cost, low-risk and quick approach to surveying mangrove above-ground biomass when compared with on-the-ground forestry methods (Otero et al. 2018). In addition, they can collect much higher resolution data than most other remote sensing approaches, with the ability to generate cm-resolution, three-dimensional canopy models. This potentially makes them an ideal tool for site-based assessments of mangrove above-ground biomass and carbon stocks.

## 2 What we did

With support from Lendlease and the South Australian Department of Planning, Transport and Infrastructure, we were provided access to part of the Northern Connector road construction site close to North Arm Creek, where small areas of *Avicennia marina* (which is the only mangrove in South Australia) were permitted to be removed to make way for a road bridge.

When on site, we flew a drone with a mounted camera over ten individually marked trees (Figure 3) within the area to be felled (the selected trees were not on the edge of the canopy, in order to avoid edge effects), The drone collected photos that could be processed to form a 3D model of the tree canopy (using structure-from-motion photogrammetry) (Figure 4). The trees were then cut at ground level and delivered to us at a nearby facility owned by the South Australian Museum, where we took measurements and weights from them, as well as sub-samples for calculating the biomass of each tree (Figure 5).

The datasets we collected allowed us to estimate/measure above-ground biomass in three ways:

- 1) Modelled biomass based on structural measurements of the trees taken from the drone imagery
- 2) Estimated biomass using established forest inventory techniques, relying on physical measurements taken directly from the trees
- 3) Actual biomass measured directly from the felled trees

With the datasets we collected, we were able to compare the accuracy of mangrove biomass estimates from the drone image data with those from the traditional field-based techniques, as well as assessing the accuracy of both approaches by comparing the results to the actual measured biomass of each tree.



Figure 3. Photo of the drone flying over the marked trees





Figure 4. Three-dimensional structural information and derived imagery generated from multiple, overlapping images collected by a drone-mounted camera and processed in Pix4D Mapper Pro software. A) orthomosaic and B) structure from motion point cloud.



Figure 5. Schematic of the workflow used in our investigation into using drones-derived data to estimate the above-ground biomass of mangrove trees.

## 3 What we found

## 3.1 Modelled estimates of above-ground biomass from the drone imagebased 3D canopy model

We found that the tree measurements from the drone imagery provided very accurate estimates of tree height, which could in turn be used to estimate the diameter of each tree at 30 cm and 130 cm from the base of the trunk; but with lower accuracy (Figure 6). The canopy size estimates from the drone-based 3D model were not useful for predicting the above-ground biomass of our study trees (we tested this using predictive model, but their prediction error was high). We used the tree structural variables estimated from the imagery to predict above-ground biomass of the trees but found that this approach led to fairly high prediction errors (Figure 7, box 'Drone model') compared to other approaches.

# 3.2 Estimated biomass using established forest inventory techniques that rely on physical measurements

We tested the accuracy of some previously published allometric equations for Avicennia marina (Clough et al. 1997, Comley and McGuinness 2005, Owers et al. 2018), using both measurements taken directly from the trees (height, diameter etc.) and estimates of the same structural variables derived from the drone based imagery. In addition, we built our own (new) allometric equation from data generated in the destructive sampling of trees in this study. We found that our new allometric equation, built using data from South Australian Avicennia marina trees, predicted tree biomass most accurately of all the equations tested (all the previously published equations for this species are based on trees from other states and countries). This result was consistent whether we used values of structural variables collected by physically measuring the trees, or we extracted these measurement values from the drone imagery (Figure 7, 'Jones' boxes). This result highlights that spatial variability in Avicennia marina growth form and other structural characteristics can affect the successful application of previously published allometric equations (based on trees from other regions/countries) that attempt to relate tree size measurements to their biomass. It is evident that it is important to undertake region-specific sampling and modelling to achieve the most reliable above-ground biomass estimates for mangroves. When undertaking these analyses, we discovered that the key variables for accurate estimation of above-ground biomass of Avicennia marina in South Australia were those that described the trunk diameter of the trees (diameter at 30 cm and 130 cm).

# 3.3 Comparison of above-ground biomass estimates from the drone data and the allometric techniques.

Ultimately, we found that above-ground tree biomass estimation was better (had lower prediction errors) when we used techniques that rely on taking direct measurements of structural characteristics from the trees in the field, as opposed to image based estimates of these characteristics from the drone (Figure 7). However, with further testing and model development, we aim to improve the accuracy of the drone-based method in order to provide robust estimates of mangrove above-ground biomass.



Figure 6. Plots of predicted values for tree structural characteristics from the drone 3D imagery, against the measured values from the felled trees. A) Logged estimates of tree height from the drone 3D canopy model and the logged measurements of tree height taken from the felled trees. Linear model predictions of B) log(diameter at 130 cm) based on drone-estimated tree height plotted against the log of measured diameter at 130 cm; and C) log(diameter at 30 cm) based on drone-estimated tree height and canopy area plotted against the log of measured tree diameter at 30 cm. Shading = 95 % confidence interval.



Figure 7. Boxplots showing the predictions of above-ground biomass (kg) based on tree structural characteristics (height, diameter, canopy area) that were either measured by hand (left side) or estimated from the drone imagery (right side). We tested two previously published allometric equations (Clough et al. 1997, Comley and McGuinness 2005, Owers et al. 2018) and a new allometric equation developed as part of this study ('Jones'). We also ran a model of biomass using only the estimates of tree structural variables that could be directly measured from the drone imagery (canopy area and tree height) which is shown on the plot as 'Drone model'. The horizontal dark line on each box shows the median, upper and lower box extents show the first and third quartiles respectively, whiskers extend to 1.5 times the interquartile range and black points indicate outliers. The actual biomass of the trees is shown in the far left box labelled 'observed'.

8 | Coastal Carbon Opportunities: Using drones to measure above-ground biomass in mangroves

## 4 What this all means

Our project, 'Coastal carbon opportunities' aimed to generate data to fill critical knowledge gaps around carbon in coastal ecosystems, including the development of novel methods for measurement that can support the development of South Australian government climate strategies and policies.

This study produced a new allometric equation, which generates improved estimates of above-ground mangrove biomass for South Australian *Avicennia marina* trees compared to other published equations and should be used for future estimation of above-ground biomass in South Australian mangroves. The new allometric equation is given below for reference, where DBH is the measurement value for trunk diameter at breast height (in cm) and  $D_{30}$  is the measurement value for trunk diameter at 30 cm (in cm):

*Biomass* (*Kg*) = exp  $(-2.3902 + 0.4771 * \ln(DBH) + 1.945 * \ln(D30))) * 1.179712$ 

We also demonstrated proof-of-concept in that we show there is potential to use imagery collected by a drone to build structural models of mangroves and extract measurements from these models for estimation of above-ground biomass (which can be easily converted to carbon estimates using a multiplier). In particular, we found that the drone-based imagery can provide very accurate estimates of tree height. However, the estimates of tree biomass based on tree measurements extracted from the drone imagery were less accurate and this method is not yet ready for wider implementation. The results from our comparison of approaches for estimating above-ground mangrove biomass (field-based forestry methods vs remote sensing with drones) indicated that drone-estimated variables cannot currently provide the same power as on-the-ground measurements for biomass prediction. However, having identified that the critical predictors of biomass for South Australian mangroves are tree height and trunk diameter, it is now possible to move forwards with refining our ability to predict these from drone-based aerial imagery. Further study will require a greater sample size of individual trees. We also recommend further investigations to look at the potential for using area-based canopy structure (from the drone imagery), validated against on-the-ground surveys, to produce estimates of biomass and carbon storage per unit area, rather than per individual tree.

## References

- Alongi, D.M. (2014) Carbon Cycling and Storage in Mangrove Forests. Annual Review of Marine Science 6(1), 195-219.
- Anderson, K. and Gaston, K.J. (2013) Lightweight unmanned aerial vehicles will revolutionize spatial ecology. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11(3), 138-146.
- Bendig, J., Yu, K., Aasen, H., Bolten, A., Bennertz, S., Broscheit, J., Gnyp, M.L. and Bareth, G. (2015) Combining UAV-based plant height from crop surface models, visible, and near infrared vegetation indices for biomass monitoring in barley. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation 39, 79-87.
- Clough, B.F., Dixon, P. and Dalhaus, O. (1997) Allometric Relationships for Estimating Biomass in Multistemmed Mangrove Trees. Australian Journal of Botany 45(6), 1023-1031.
- Comley, B. and McGuinness, K. (2005) Above-and below-ground biomass, and allometry, of four common northern Australian mangroves. Australian Journal of Botany 53(5), 431-436.
- Donato, D.C., Kauffman, J.B., Mackenzie, R.A., Ainsworth, A. and Pfleeger, A.Z. (2012) Whole-island carbon stocks in the tropical Pacific: Implications for mangrove conservation and upland restoration. Journal of Environmental Management 97, 89-96.
- Gibbs, H.K., Brown, S., Niles, J.O. and Foley, J.A. (2007) Monitoring and estimating tropical forest carbon stocks: making REDD a reality. Environmental Research Letters 2(4), 045023.
- Howard, J., Hoyt, S., Isensee, K., Telszewski, M. and Pidgeon, E. (2014) Coastal Blue Carbon: Methods for assessing carbon stocks and emissions factors in mangroves, tidal salt marshes, and seagrasses, Arlington, Virginia, USA.
- IPCC (2014) 2013 Supplement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands. Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Tanabe, K., Srivastava, N., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M. and Troxler, T.G. (eds), Switzerland.
- Kauffman, J.B. and Donato, D. (2012) Protocols for the measurement, monitoring and reporting of structure, biomass and carbon stocks in mangrove forests, Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Bogor, Indonesia.
- Mcleod, E., Chmura, G.L., Bouillon, S., Salm, R., Bjork, M., Duarte, C.M., Lovelock, C.E., Schlesinger, W.H. and Silliman, B.R. (2011) A blueprint for blue carbon: toward an improved understanding of the role of vegetated coastal habitats in sequestering CO2. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9(10), 552-560.
- Nellemann, C. and Corcoran, E. (2009) Blue carbon: the role of healthy oceans in binding carbon: a rapid response assessment, UNEP/Earthprint.
- Otero, V., Van De Kerchove, R., Satyanarayana, B., Martínez-Espinosa, C., Fisol, M.A.B., Ibrahim, M.R.B., Sulong, I., Mohd-Lokman, H., Lucas, R. and Dahdouh-Guebas, F. (2018) Managing mangrove forests from the sky: Forest inventory using field data and Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) imagery in the Matang Mangrove Forest Reserve, peninsular Malaysia. Forest Ecology and Management 411, 35-45.
- Owers, C.J., Rogers, K. and Woodroffe, C.D. (2018) Spatial variation of above-ground carbon storage in temperate coastal wetlands. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 210, 55-67.
- Panagoitidis, D., Abdollahnejad, A., Surový, P. and Chiteculo, V. (2017) Determining tree height and crown diameter from high-resolution UAV imagery AU - Panagiotidis, Dimitrios. International Journal of Remote Sensing 38(8-10), 2392-2410.
- Picard, N., Saint-André, L. and Henry, M. (2012) Manual for building tree volume and biomass allometric equations: from field measurement to prediction. Manual for building tree volume and biomass allometric equations: from field measurement to prediction, FAO; Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (2012).





The Goyder Institute for Water Research is a partnership between the South Australian Government through the Department for Environment and Water, CSIRO, Flinders University, the University of Adelaide, the University of South Australia, and the International Centre of Excellence in Water Resource Management.